2006

Level 3 Communications, LLC v. Utah Public Service Commission, Qwest Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2-2(3)(e)(i) (2005).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Commission erred in applying a just and reasonable standard under the Telecommunications Act of 1996, 47 U.S.C.A. § 251, *et seq.* to interpret the Parties' Old Agreement.

Whether a statute was correctly interpreted is a question of law reviewed for correctness. State v. MacGuire, 84 P.3d 1171, 1173 (Utah 2004). This issue was preserved in the Commission proceeding by the Motion for Reconsideration and Rehearing, Record at 63; and Reply Brief of Level 3, Record at 79; and in the Removal Action filed by Qwest and remanded to this Court, Order Remanding Action to Utah Supreme Court, Case No. 2:096CV132K (May 30, 2006).

2. Whether state law applies to the interpretation of the relative use factor ("RUF") clause in the parties' Old Agreement.

Whether state or federal law applies to interpret a contract is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. Bourke v. Dun & Bradstreet Corp., 159 F.3d 1032, 1036 (7th Cir. 1998); Klamath Water Users Protective Ass'n v. Patterson, 204 F.3d 1206, 1210 (9th Cir. 1999). This issue was preserved in the Commission proceeding by the Position Statement of Level 3 Communications, LLC, Record at 28; Motion for Reconsideration and Rehearing, Record at 63; and Reply Brief of Level 3, Record at 79; and in the

Removal Action filed by Qwest and remanded to this Court, Order Remanding Action to Utah Supreme Court, Case No. 2:096CV132K (May 30, 2006).

3. Whether the Utah Commission erred in relying on the Federal Communications Commission's *ISP Remand Order* and the Utah Commission's own 2004 Order in the arbitration of the New Agreement to interpret the RUF clause.

Questions of contract interpretation not requiring resort to extrinsic evidence are matters of law reviewed for correctness. Fairbourn Commercial, Inc. v. American Housing Partners, Inc., 94 P.3d 292, 295 (Utah 2004). Factual findings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. R&R Energies v. Mother Earth Indus., Inc., 936 P.2d 1068, 1074 (Utah 1997). This issue was preserved in the Commission proceeding by the Motion for Reconsideration and Rehearing, Record at 63; and Reply Brief of Level 3, Record at 79.

4. Whether the Commission erred in failing to interpret the RUF clause by the plain meaning of the Old Agreement.

Questions of contract interpretation not requiring resort to extrinsic evidence are matters of law reviewed for correctness. Fairbourn Commercial, Inc. v. American Housing Partners, Inc., 94 P.3d 292, 295 (Utah 2004). Factual findings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. R&R Energies v. Mother Earth Indus., Inc., 936 P.2d 1068, 1074 (Utah 1997). This issue was preserved in the Commission proceeding by Level 3's Motion for Reconsideration and Rehearing, Record at 63, and by the Reply Brief of Level 3, Record at 79.

PROVISIONS OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE

47 U.S.C.A. § 251 (2005) (See addendum for statute)

47 U.S.C.A. § 252 (2005) (See addendum for statute)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises from a Petition filed by Level 3 on June 23, 2005, seeking to enjoin Qwest from disconnecting service to Level 3, and seeking a declaratory order from the Commission that Level 3 was current on its payments to Qwest for the facilities in question.

On June, 13, 2005, Qwest served demand upon Level 3 for payment of \$563,616.99 for charges that Qwest claimed were in default, threatening to disconnect Level 3's service by June 28, 2005, unless payment was received. Record at 4. Level 3 contended that all undisputed charges had been paid and that Qwest's attempt to impose additional charges was in contravention of the unambiguous language of the applicable contract between Level 3 and Qwest. Record at 2, p. 7. In response, Qwest brought a counterclaim against Level 3, seeking an order from the Commission declaring that payment was due based upon the Commission's 2004 Order in a previous docket (Docket 02-2266-02) in which the Commission arbitrated similar language in a subsequent contract between the parties. Record at 24, p 8-11.

The matter was heard by the Commission on July 26, 2005. Record at 55. In its Report and Order, issued August 18, 2005, the Commission concluded that it need not rely on the unambiguous language of the parties' Old Agreement (as defined below), but

rather could rely on the reasoning of its 2004 Order in docket No. 02-2266-02 (arbitrating their New Agreement (as defined below)), and could instead apply federal standards (both past and current) to resolve the dispute. Record at 58, pp. 8–10. Thus, the Commission refused to enforce the Old Agreement by its plain terms.

Level 3 moved the Commission for reconsideration of its Report and Order, contending that the Commission failed to correctly apply federal law, failed to apply state law, incorrectly relied on the reasoning of its order in Docket No. 02-2266-02, improperly ignored its own ruling that its findings in Docket No. 02-2266-02 would be applied prospectively only, and failed to give effect to the intention of the parties at the time they entered into the Old Agreement by enforcing the plain language of the Old Agreement. Record at 63. Level 3's request for reconsideration was subsequently deemed denied. Record at 74, p. 2 ¶ 2.

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

On June 23, 2005, Level 3 filed its Petition for Enforcement of the Interconnection Agreement between Qwest and Level 3 and Motion for Expedited Relief. Record at 1, 2. Level 3 requested that the Commission enjoin Qwest from taking any actions with respect to Level 3's accounts with Qwest, including, but not limited to, the suspension of service order activity and disconnection of services. Record at 2, p. 3.

Level 3 also requested that the Commission issue an order declaring that Level 3's payments to Qwest were current and that Qwest could not bill or collect from Level 3 for direct-trunked transport ("DTT") charges based on the exclusion of ISP-bound (as

defined below) traffic from Qwest's share of originating minutes of use during the disputed period. Record at 2, p. 8.

The Commission issued a Notice of Prehearing Conference on June 24, 2005, setting the conference for June 30. Record at 8. In that Notice, the Commission noted that Qwest had given assurances that it would not take any action regarding Level 3's accounts until resolution of the matter. *Id.* A schedule for the expedited proceedings was set pursuant to the Commission's Scheduling Order issued June 30, 2005. Record at 16.

On July 6, 2005, Qwest filed its Response and Counterclaim to Level 3's motion for enforcement, Record at 24, and on July 14, Level 3 filed its Reply to Qwest's Counterclaim, Record at 25, 26. Pursuant to the Commission's Scheduling Order, on July 15, 2005, both parties filed their Position Statements. Record at 27–53.

Hearing was held on the matter on July 26, 2005, before administrative law judge ("ALJ") Steven F. Goodwill. Record at 55. On August 18, 2005, the Commission approved and confirmed the ALJ's Report and Order, denying Level 3's Petition for Enforcement and granting in part Qwest's Counterclaim. Record at 58, p. 11 ¶ 1.

On September 19, 2005, Level 3 filed its timely Motion for Reconsideration and Rehearing. Record at 62, 63. Pursuant to an agreement between the parties, the Commission issued an Order Granting Limited Reconsideration on October 4, 2005, to allow the parties' time to conclude settlement discussions. Record at 66, 70. The Commission also set new time limits for Qwest's substantive response to Level 3's Request for Rehearing and Reconsideration and for the "deemed denied" date. Record at 66, ¶ 2.

The parties were unable to reach agreement, and therefore, Qwest filed its Opposition to Level 3's Request for Reconsideration and Rehearing on November 18, 2005. Record at 71. Because the Order Granting Limited Reconsideration issued by the Commission did not allow time for Level 3 to file a reply brief or for the Commission to consider any such reply, on November 21, Level 3 filed a Request for Leave to File a Reply Brief, and a Motion for Extension of Schedule. Record at 72, 73. Level 3's request was granted, Record at 74, and on December 5, 2005, Level 3 filed its reply. Record at 78, 79.

In its Order Granting Limited Reconsideration, the Commission had ordered that, in the absence of any further action on the Commission's part, Level 3's Motion for Reconsideration and Rehearing would be deemed denied as of December 16, 2005. Record at 74, p. 2 ¶ 2. The Commission took no further action and therefore, on January 13, 2006, Level 3 filed its timely Petition for Review with this Court.¹ See Petition for Review.

Thereafter, on February 13, 2006, Qwest filed with this Court its Notice of Filing Notice of Removal in the United States District Court for the District of Utah, Central Division. See Notice of Filing Notice of Removal in the United States District Court for the District of Utah, Central Division. After briefing and a hearing on the matter, the Federal District Court remanded the case to this Court, finding that there was no federal

¹ This document and all subsequent documents filed with this Court are not included in the Commission's record for transmittal to this Court. Nevertheless, they have been filed with this Court and are a part of the record on appeal of this matter.

question involved and the matter was one of state contract law. See Order Remanding Action to Utah Supreme Court, at 2, Case No. 2:06CV132K (May 30, 2006), a certified copy of which was forwarded to this Court by the Federal District Court on May 30, 2006.

III. DISPOSITION BELOW

On August 18, 2005, the Commission denied Level 3's Petition for Enforcement of the Interconnection Agreement between Qwest and Level 3. Record at 58, p. 11 ¶ 1. The Commission did not take any action on Level 3's Motion for Reconsideration and Rehearing and it was deemed denied as of December 16, 2005. Record at 74, p. 2 ¶ 2.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Level 3 is a local exchange carrier providing service in Utah. An important part of Level 3's service offerings are services to Internet service providers ("ISP"). Record at 2, p. 3; Record at 42 pp. 2-3. Qwest is an incumbent local exchange carrier in Utah. Record at 6, p. 1.

2. Qwest and Level 3 interconnect at a single point of interconnection ("POI") located in Salt Lake City. Record at 6, p. 1; Record at 58, p. 3. Telecommunication traffic originating with Qwest's customers in the Utah local access and transport area ("LATA") that is destined for Level 3 customers is carried by Qwest to the POI where it is handed off to Level 3. Record at 6, p. 1; Record at 42, p. 3. For example, if a Qwest customer in Cedar City calls a Level 3 customer in Cedar City, the call is carried by Qwest to the POI in Salt Lake City where it is transferred to Level 3, who then delivers the call to its customer. Record at 6, p.1.

3. On or about September 7, 2000, Level 3 and Qwest entered into an interconnection agreement (“Old Agreement”) pursuant to the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“FTA” or “Act”),² 47 U.S.C.A. § 251, *et seq.*, and Utah Code Annotated § 54-8b-2.2. The terms and conditions of the Old Agreement were not originally negotiated by Level 3 and Qwest, but by AT&T and U S West (the predecessor of Qwest). Record at 55, p. 40, ln. 9–22. Level 3, as permitted by federal law, adopted the same terms and conditions as had been negotiated between U S West and AT&T. 47 U.S.C.A. § 252(i); Record at 55, p. 40, ln. 9–22. While portions of the AT&T - U S West Agreement were the subject of arbitration before a state public utilities commission, the Old Agreement itself, as between Level 3 and Qwest, is considered for the purposes of this proceeding to be a negotiated agreement. Record at 55, p. 40, ln. 23–25, p. 41, ln. 1–2; Record at 71, p. 13.

4. The Old Agreement was approved by the Commission in a Report and Order dated January 10, 2001 (“2001 Order”). Record at 30. In the 2001 Order, the Commission determined that the Old Agreement was nondiscriminatory, and that it comported with Section 251 of the Act and then current Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) regulations. Record at 30, p. 2–¶¶ 1–4. The Commission also concluded that the Old Agreement complied with Utah laws and the Commission’s rules, and was in the public interest. Id.

² References to sections of the Act are to the section numbers as codified in Title 47 of the United States Code.

5. Under the Old Agreement, Qwest and Level 3 agreed that when the traffic between the two carriers reached a certain level, DTT facilities would be used to carry the traffic to the POI. Record at 6, p. 1; Record at 58, p. 4. Accordingly, when the traffic reached the requisite level, Level 3 requested that Qwest establish DTT facilities to carry this Qwest originated traffic to the POI with Level 3. *Id.* at pp. 2–3. The Old Agreement provides that the cost of those facilities would be shared according to the relative use of the facilities by each carrier. *Id.* It states:

If the Parties' elect to establish two-way direct trunks, the compensation for such jointly used 'shared' facilities shall be adjusted as follows. The nominal compensation shall be pursuant to the rates for direct trunk transport in Appendix A. The actual rate paid to the provider of the direct trunk facility shall be reduced to reflect the provider's use of that facility. The adjustment in the direct trunk transport rate shall be a percentage that reflects the provider's *relative use (i.e. originating minutes of use)* of the facility in the busy hour.

Old Agreement, Section 5.1.2.4 (emphasis added). Record at 44, p. 4; Record at 58, pp. 3–4. Under this provision, the relative use factor (“RUF”), which is based on originating minutes of use, dictates the percentage of the cost that each party will pay for the DTT facilities. There is no other provision in the Old Agreement that addresses cost sharing for such facilities, or that mentions “relative use.” Record at 58, p. 4.

6. Because Level 3's customers that exchange traffic with Qwest's customers were ISPs during the period at issue in this dispute, and because ISPs do not ordinarily originate calls, Qwest was the responsible carrier for all of the originating traffic to be carried over the DTTs. Record at 6, p. 1. Qwest has alleged that Level 3 “was at all times relevant to this dispute . . . providing services exclusively to [ISPs],” and knew that

virtually all of the traffic that was exchanged on those facilities originated with Qwest. Record at 42, p. 3. The Old Agreement required Qwest to bear the cost of bringing its traffic to the POI. Record at 6, p. 2, n.1. This was consistent with long-standing FCC Rules and orders that established the originating carrier is responsible for the cost of carriage of traffic originated by their end users.³

7. The parties amended the Old Agreement twice. On November 14, 2002, they jointly filed an amendment to the Old Agreement pursuant to the change-in-law provision, to implement the FCC's recent *ISP Remand Order*, which amendment was approved January 8, 2003. Record at 42, p. 2 n.2. The *ISP Remand Order*, issued in April 2001 by the FCC, determined that ISP-bound traffic was not to be included in the calculation of reciprocal compensation for the exchange of traffic for local area calls ("LAC").⁴ Because the DTT facilities at issue here are not related to reciprocal compensation for LAC, the Parties and the Commission acknowledge that the *ISP Remand Order* is not directly applicable to this case. Qwest stated:

The FCC's ISP Remand Order dealt with the proper treatment of local ISP-bound traffic for reciprocal compensation purposes. It did not deal directly with the application of the RUF to the assignment of financial responsibility for facilities on the ILEC's side of the POI.

³ Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions in the Telecommunications Act of 1996; Intercarrier Compensation for ISP-Bound Traffic, Order on Remand and Report and Order, 16 FCC Rcd 9151 ¶ 20 (2001) ("*ISP Remand Order*"), remanded *WorldCom v. FCC*, 288 F.3d 429 (D.C. Cir. 2002).; The Internet Service Provider Bound Traffic Amendment to the Interconnection Agreement between Qwest Corporation and Level 3 Communications, LLC, for the State of Utah, was filed with the Utah Commission on November 14, 2002.

⁴ *ISP Remand Order* at ¶¶ 1, 14, 46, 52.

Record at 42, p. 18. The parties' amendment, therefore, did nothing to affect the RUF calculation for determining shared costs of DTT facilities.

8. On or about June 28, 2002, the parties amended the Old Agreement a second time, again invoking the change-in-law provision to add terms and conditions for the establishment of a Single Point of Presence ("SPOP") in the Utah LATA. Record at 42, p. 2, n.2; Record at 45. ("SPOP Amendment") Although the SPOP Amendment generally deals with Level 3's point of presence in Utah, nothing in the SPOP Amendment addressed or affected the manner in which the RUF calculation would be applied for determining the shared cost of DTTs. Record at 34–39; Record at 45–50.

9. Despite the plain language of the Old Agreement, Qwest billed Level 3 for DTTs, applying the RUF, but excluding Qwest's minutes of originating use from the calculation because the traffic was bound for Level 3's ISP customers. Rather than bearing the cost of the facilities that carried their originating minutes themselves. Qwest billed Level 3 for the full amount of the trunks. Record at 58, pp. 7–8. In October 2002, the parties settled a past dispute about Qwest's invoices for amounts in dispute through June 30, 2002. Record at 58, p. 6, n.3.

10. The Old Agreement expired on June 26, 2001. Record at 58, p. 4. But, the effective expiration date was governed by the following provision:

This Agreement shall be effective upon Commission approval and shall remain in effect until June 26, 2001 and thereafter shall continue in force and effect unless and until a new agreement addressing all of the terms of this Agreement, becomes effective between the Parties. Either Party may request resolution of open issues in accordance with the provisions of Section 27 of this Part A of this Agreement,

Dispute Resolution, beginning nine (9) months prior to the expiration of this Agreement. Any disputes regarding the terms and conditions of the new interconnection agreement shall be resolved in accordance with said Section 27 and the resulting agreement shall be submitted to the Commission. This Agreement shall remain in effect until a new interconnection agreement approved by the Commission has become effective.

Old Agreement, Part A, Section 20.1 (emphasis added). Record at 58, p. 4. Thus, the terms of the Old Agreement were to apply until a new interconnection agreement could be approved by the Commission. Id.

11. In anticipation of the expiration of the Old Agreement, Level 3 and Qwest began negotiations for a new interconnection agreement (“New Agreement”). Record at 58, p. 4. The Parties were able to agree to all of the terms except the issue of whether ISP-bound traffic should be excluded from the RUF calculation. Record at 6; Record at 58, p.4. Qwest proposed that ISP-bound traffic should be excluded from the relative use calculation. Record at 6; Record at 58, p.4. Level 3, consistent with the relative use treatment under the Old Agreement, proposed that the relative use calculation should include all of the originating minutes of use on the trunks without exception. Record at 6, p. 2; Record at 58, p. 5. To resolve that single issue in the New Agreement, on August 7, 2002, Level 3 filed a Petition for Arbitration with the Public Service Commission. Record at 58, p. 4.

12. The parties also arbitrated a related sub-issue concerning whether the new RUF should be applied prospectively only, or whether there should be a retroactive “true-up” to the beginning of the then-current billing quarter using the calculation adopted in

the New Agreement. Record at 6, p. 4. Qwest proposed that the new RUF should be used to apply retroactively to the beginning of the billing quarter. Id. Level 3 argued that any new RUF should be used prospectively only from the effective date of the Commission's Order. Id.

13. On December 10, 2002, a hearing was held and testimony was received in the Arbitration proceeding in connection with the New Agreement. Record at 6. Qwest argued that adoption of an RUF calculation that included ISP-bound traffic would “violate the same policy considerations” that caused the FCC in its *ISP Remand Order* to exclude ISP-bound traffic from payment of reciprocal compensation for LAC traffic. Record at 6, p. 2. Level 3, on the other hand, argued that the obligation to inter-connect through DTT facilities, as in this case, is entirely different from the obligation to pay reciprocal compensation for LAC traffic. Id. at p. 3. It contended that the *ISP Remand Order* only modified reciprocal compensation obligations, not interconnection obligations. Id.

14. The Commission issued its Report and Order in the Arbitration proceeding, Docket No. 02-2266-02, on February 20, 2004 (“2004 Order”). Record at 6. The Commission considered language proposed by the Parties and ultimately adopted Qwest's version, which excluded ISP-bound traffic from the minutes-of-use calculation in the RUF. Record at 6, p.4; Record at 58, p. 5.⁵

⁵ The precise language of the RUF clause from the New Agreement is not in the record.

14. In its 2004 Order, the Commission noted that an RUF calculation that included ISP-bound traffic would result in Qwest bearing all the cost of the interconnection facilities. It stated:

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