2006

# Level 3 Communications, LLC v. Utah Public Service Commission and Qwest Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

## **V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Commission interpreted the Old Agreement consistently with the parties' intent as manifest by the plain language of the contract. The Old Agreement only contemplated a relative use offset for local calls. The calls at issue in this case were VNXX calls carried to ISPs outside the LCA in Utah where the call was originated, and indeed outside Utah. There was no basis for claiming such VNXX calls as "local" at the time the Old Agreement was executed. Rather, such calls are excluded from the definition of local calls under the Old Agreement and SPOP Amendment and Level 3 is not entitled to a relative use offset. Under the plain language of the contract, section 5.1.2.4 cannot apply to require Qwest to absorb the costs of the DTT services it provides at Level 3's request and for its benefit.

Alternatively, if it is assumed that the Old Agreement as amended is ambiguous, the Commission did not err in interpreting the contract to require just and reasonable compensation. Qwest did not negotiate away its right to be compensated for providing DTT services solely for Level 3's benefit. The public policies against Level 3's attempted regulatory arbitrage were being addressed at the time the Old Agreement became effective. By the time the SPOP Amendment was entered, under which all traffic at issue in this case was exchanged, courts and regulators had clarified that the Act did not authorize CLECs' attempts to obtain free services from ILECs to facilitate their exclusive-ISP business plans. The Commission's decision appropriately interpreted the contract in a manner that achieved an equitable result.

## VI. ARGUMENT

### A. The Plain Language Of The Old Agreement And SPOP Amendment Supports The Commission's Determination.

Given its centrality to Level 3's appeal, Qwest will address Level 3's last argument first. That is, Level 3 claims that the Commission failed to appropriately interpret the Old Agreement and that the plain language of the Old Agreement, if interpreted correctly, would support Level 3's position that it was not required to pay anything for the DTT it ordered and benefited from during the Dispute Period. *See, e.g.*, Level 3's Brief at 41-42.

While the Commission has broader public policy responsibilities than merely ascertaining party intent, party intent remains central to interpreting a contract. *See, e.g.*, *Central Fla. Invs., Inc. v. Parkwest Assocs.*, 2002 UT 3, ¶ 12, 40 P.3d 599. To the extent the parties' unambiguous intent can be found in the plain language of the contract and that intent is not contrary to public policy, Qwest agrees that the Court can interpret that plain language as a matter of law in resolving this case. *See, e.g.*, *Zions First Nat'l Bank v. National Am. Title Ins. Co.*, 749 P.2d 651, 653 (Utah 1988) ("Questions of contract interpretation not requiring resort to extrinsic evidence are matters of law, and on such questions we accord the trial court's interpretation no presumption of correctness.").

It follows that if the Court reaches an interpretation of the contract as a matter of law, the issue of whether the Commission committed error in issuing the Order is irrelevant—if Level 3's interpretation is correct, the Court can grant Level 3 appropriate relief. If, on the other hand, Qwest's interpretation is correct, the Court can sustain the

Commission's ruling in favor of Qwest on the basis of the plain language of the contract. In other words, if the Court determines that the plain language of the contract supports Qwest's interpretation, any alleged error by the Commission could not have led to substantial prejudice against Level 3 because Qwest was entitled to prevail on the contract interpretation as a matter of law. *See, e.g., Alta Pacific Associates, Ltd. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 931 P.2d 103, 116 (Utah 1997) ("For a reviewing court to grant relief under the Utah Administrative Procedures Act, it must determine that the party has been substantially prejudiced by the complained of agency action. In other words, we must be able to determine that the alleged error was not harmless. Thus, the aggrieved party must be able to demonstrate how the agency's action prejudiced it. An error is harmful only if the likelihood of a different outcome is sufficiently high as to undermine our confidence in the outcome.") (quotations and bracketing omitted); *cf., e.g., State v. Pedockie*, 2006 UT 28, ¶ 2, 137 P.3d 716, 718 ("We affirm the reversal of Pedockie's conviction, but on different grounds."); *Schaerrer v. Stewart's Plaza Pharmacy, Inc.*, 2003 UT 43, ¶ 37, 79 P.3d 922, 933 ("We affirm the district court's decision to dismiss Schaerrers claims, although on different grounds."); *Broudy v. Mather*, \_\_\_ F.3d \_\_\_, 2006 WL 2424724, \*8 (D.C. Cir. Aug. 23, 2006) ("We review the grant of a motion to dismiss de novo and 'may affirm the dismissal of a complaint on different grounds than those relied upon by the district court.'") (quoting *Amgen, Inc. v. Smith*, 357 F.3d 103, 108, 111 (D.C.Cir.2004)).

**1. The Use of the DTT Services by Customers of Level 3's ISP Clients Cannot Be Attributed as Qwest's "Relative Use" Under Section 5.1.2.4.**

**a. The plain language of Section 5.1.2.4 supports Qwest's interpretation.**

There is a strong plain language argument to be made about the terms of the Old Agreement but it is not Level 3's argument. Contracts should be interpreted to give effect to all of their provisions, using their plain language according to its ordinary usage. *See, e.g., Berman v. Berman*, 749 P.2d 1271, 1273 (Ut. Ct. App. 1988) ("In interpreting contracts, the principal concern is to determine what the parties intended by what they said. 'We do not add, ignore, or discard words in this process; but attempt to render certain the meaning of the provision, [sic] in dispute, [sic] by an objective and reasonable construction of the whole contract.' *Mark Steel Corp. v. Eimco Corp.*, 548 P.2d 892, 894 (Utah 1976). The ordinary and usual meaning of the words used is given effect, *Pugh v. Stockdale and Co.*, 570 P.2d 1027, 1029 (Utah 1977), and '[e]ffect is to be given the entire agreement without ignoring any part thereof.' *Minshew v. Chevron Oil Co.*, 575 P.2d 192, 194 (Utah 1978). *See also Larrabee v. Royal Dairy Prod. Co.*, 614 P.2d 160, 163 (Utah 1980).").

The plain-language purpose and concept of section 5.1.2.4 of Attachment 1 to the Old Agreement is not difficult to discern. First, the broader scope of the Old Agreement demonstrates that section 5.1.2.4 is limited to local traffic. Second, the remainder of Attachment 1, including the "Transport" section of Attachment 1 of which section 5.1.2.4 is a part, demonstrates that section 5.1.2.4 is limited to local traffic.

(i) **The Old Agreement in its entirety was limited to local traffic.**

Interconnection obligations under the Act are focused on local traffic. *See* 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(2)(A). Consistent with this the introductory paragraph to the Old Agreement sets forth that it:

is entered into by and between [Level 3] and [Qwest] to establish the rates, terms and conditions for **local interconnection, local resale,** and the purchase of unbundled network elements (individually referred to as the “service” or collectively as the “services.”)<sup>16</sup>

Likewise, under the “Scope of Agreement” section of the Old Agreement, the agreement was to “specif[y] the rights and obligations of each Party with respect to the purchase and sale of **Local** Interconnection . . . .” *See id.* at 1, ¶ A (emphasis added). “Local Interconnection” is defined in the Recitals as the “interconnect[ion] [of the parties’] **local** exchange networks . . . .” *See id.* at 1 (emphasis added). “Local Traffic” is defined as “intraLATA traffic **within an exchange** that is treated as toll free traffic as established by the Commission and as reflected in the effective tariffs of Qwest.” *See id.* at 7 (emphasis added).

State commission have always deferred to the ILEC’s definition in “establishing” local traffic, in order to avoid the gamesmanship that CLECs could achieve if they were able to enlarge Qwest’s local calling areas in the manner Level 3 seeks to accomplish.<sup>17</sup>

---

<sup>16</sup> *See* Addendum Exhib. 4, Part A at 1 (emphasis added). Network elements are not at issue in this case.

<sup>17</sup> *See e.g., Global NAPS*, 2006 WL 1828612 at \*9 (“But, if carriers were free to define local calling areas for the purposes of intercarrier compensation, the door would be open to **overweening conduct by the CLECs**. ILECs are currently fixed in state-

And Qwest's tariffs and price lists have always defined local traffic by reference to the geographic areas (i.e., the "exchange") where the call originates and terminates.<sup>18</sup> If the call originates and terminates in the same LCA, it is a local call. If the call terminates in a different LCA than the one where it originated, it is not a local call.

Long distance or interexchange traffic, on the other hand, is defined in the Old Agreement as "traffic that **originates in one Rate Center and terminates in another**

---

commission-imposed regimes and, in that framework, provide the infrastructure for CLECs. Local calling areas defined by CLECs would permit such areas to be so broad as to eliminate all intercarrier compensation for ILECs. **Permitting CLECs to define local service areas and thereby set the rules for the sharing of infrastructure would eventually require ILECs to absorb all the costs and allow CLECs to reap all the profits.**") (emphasis added); *Global NAPS, Inc. v. Verizon New England, Inc.*, 327 F.Supp. 2d 290, 297 (D. Vt. 2004) ("Under [the CLEC's] interpretation, a call from a [CLEC] customer in Vermont to anywhere in the world would not be telephone toll service for purposes of intercarrier compensation if [the CLEC] offered the customer unlimited worldwide calling for a flat fee. Setting aside the question whether [the CLEC] does now or ever intends to offer local calling service in Vermont, the FCC in its Remand Order specifically stated that prior to the enactment of the 1996 Act, the FCC and the states had in place regimes applicable to access services—services that provide connection to points beyond the local exchange—that Congress did not intend to disrupt when it created reciprocal compensation requirements. Remand Order at 9168 ¶ 37. According to the FCC, the reciprocal compensation requirements of the 1996 Act exclude traffic already subject to interstate and intrastate access regulations. *Id.* & n. 66. The FCC has also made clear that state commissions have the authority to determine what geographic areas should be considered 'local areas' for the purpose of applying reciprocal compensation obligations under section 251(b)(5), consistent with the state commissions' historical practice of defining local service areas for wireline LECs . . .") (citing *ISP Remand Order*).

<sup>18</sup> For example, Qwest's current price list defines local service as "The furnishing of telecommunication services to the Company's customers **within an exchange for local calling.**" See Qwest Corporation Price List, Exchange and Network Services, Utah, § 2.1. [http://tariffs.qwest.com:8000/idc/groups/public/documents/tariff/ut\\_e\\_pl\\_s002p001.pdf#Page=3&PageMode=bookmarks](http://tariffs.qwest.com:8000/idc/groups/public/documents/tariff/ut_e_pl_s002p001.pdf#Page=3&PageMode=bookmarks). This concept has always been included in Qwest's tariffs and price lists.

**Rate Center** with the exception of traffic that is rated as EAS.” Appendix Exhib. 4, Part A at 12 (emphasis added). A “Rate Center” is defined as “the geographic point and corresponding geographic area **which are associated with one or more particular NPA-NXX codes . . . .** The ‘Rate Center Area’ is **the exclusive geographic area** identified as the area **within which Qwest or [Level 3] will provide basic exchange Telecommunications Services bearing the particular NPA-NXX designations associated with the specific Rate Center.**” *Id.* at 10 (emphasis added). In other words, long distance traffic is traffic that spans more than one LCA. Level 3’s VNXX ISP traffic at issue in this case not only spans more than one LCA, it spans more than one state. Long distance traffic such as Level 3’s VNXX traffic is merely referenced in the Old Agreement as being covered under the applicable Qwest tariffs. *See* R.44 at § 5.1.3. It is not subject to the relative use offset in section 5.1.2.4.

**(ii) Section 5.1.2.4 of Attachment 1 was specifically limited to local traffic.**

In addition to the general language regarding the scope of the agreement as a whole, the specific language in the Old Agreement providing for DTT facilities only contemplated transport for local calls. This is clear from the language used in the “Transport” section (section 5.1.2, of which section 5.1.2.4 is a part)<sup>19</sup> and it is clear from the rate references to Appendix A within the “Transport” section, which only addressed local traffic rates. *See* R.44 at § 5.1.1.1.1 (“The parties agree that call termination rates as

---

<sup>19</sup> *See, e.g.,* R.44 at § 5.1.2.1 (one-way trunks “for the termination of local traffic”).

described in Appendix A to this Attachment 1 will apply reciprocally for the termination of EAS/Local traffic per minute of use.”). Again, non-local traffic comes under an entirely different section, section 5.1.3, which merely refers to the applicable long distance tariffs and provides that “Applicable Switched Access Tariff rates, terms, and conditions apply to toll traffic routed to an access tandem, or directly to an end office.” *See id.* at § 5.1.3.

**b. The plain language of the SPOP Amendment supports Qwest’s interpretation.**

As noted in the fact section above, the parties’ entry of the SPOP Amendment in 2002 further clarified that the relative use offset of section 5.1.2.4 should apply only to local traffic.

All of the traffic at issue in this case was exchanged following the entry of the SPOP Amendment (*see* R.34 at 2; Level 3’s Brief at 11, 15), and pursuant to section 1.3.2 of the SPOP Amendment Qwest’s DTT trunks “will carry Exchange Service EAS/Local traffic only.” *See* R.36 at § 1.3.2. Consistent with this, section 1.3.3 provides that “[a] separate trunk group to the Qwest access tandem is necessary for the exchange of non-local Exchange Access (IntraLATA Toll Non-IXC) traffic and jointly Provided Switched Access (InterLATA and IntraLATA IXC).” *Id.* at § 1.3.3

Level 3 deliberately facilitated the use of Qwest’s DTT services for VNXX traffic, when under the terms of the SPOP Amendment those services were intended to be limited to carrying local traffic. By so doing, it (or its ISP customers) escaped the charges that should have been paid to Qwest for carrying long distance traffic. *See* R.44



at § 5.1.3.<sup>20</sup> Level 3 has no basis under the terms of the Old Agreement or the SPOP Amendment to add insult to injury by not only escaping long distance charges that should have been paid but also forcing Qwest to pay for all of the DTT under the relative use offset of section 5.1.2.4.

Level 3 may have a colorable argument that prior to the *Declaratory Order* and the *ISP Remand Order* the courts and regulators had not yet caught on to the scheme of CLECs such as Level 3 exclusively serving ISPs in order to manufacture reciprocal compensation by regulatory arbitrage. It has no argument, however, that the state of the law prior to the *ISP Remand Order* allowed Level 3 to use VNXX in order to turn the entire state of Utah into one big local calling area. Likewise, it has no basis under the plain language of the Old Agreement or the SPOP Amendment to claim that its VNXX traffic is local traffic subject to the terms of the contract generally, and the terms of section 5.1.2.4 specifically. “When interpreting a contract, a court is to consider each provision ‘in relation to all of the others, with a view toward giving effect to all and ignoring none.’” *Fairbourn Commercial, Inc. v. American Housing Partners, Inc.*, 2004 UT 54, ¶ 10, 94 P.3d 292, 295 (quoting *Green River Canal Co. v. Thayn*, 2003 UT 50, ¶ 17, 84 P.3d 1134). The provisions of the Old Agreement and the SPOP Amendment, read together, support the exclusion of non-local traffic from the relative use offset of section 5.1.2.4.

---

<sup>20</sup> See also *supra* note 13 describing generally the applicability of access charges for long-distance calls.

**2. Qwest's Understanding of the Plain Language of the Agreement Is Consistent With the Decisions of Courts and Regulators.**

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